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HOW
TO 

COMPLAIN

This  guide of fers  suggest ions  to  help 
you get  results  when you have a 

problem with the purchase of  goods 
or  ser v ices.  I t  expla ins  the proper 
way to  make a  complaint ,  and a lso 

discusses  us ing government  agencies, 
consumer groups,  law yers  and smal l 

c la ims cour t .  A  sample complaint 
letter  and a  l i s t  of  complaint 

handl ing-agencies  are  included.
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Why should you complain?

Everyone has consumer rights. You have the right to know what you 
will receive before you pay for a product or service, obtain what you 
pay for, complain when you are not satisfied and get your money back 
when you have a legitimate complaint.

There are no magical ways to get action on a complaint, but nothing 
will happen unless you complain and demand action. This publication 
offers suggestions to help you get results when you have a problem 
with the purchase of goods or services.

“The squeaky wheel gets the grease.” This old proverb means that noise 
gets attention. If you don’t let a merchant or vendor know you are dis-
satisfied with their goods or services, you have no chance of resolving 
the problem.

First, ask yourself if your complaint is legitimate. Why are you dissatis-
fied? What went wrong? Is it a question of losing money because goods 
or services you received were not what was promised, or was there 
even outright fraud? Or, did a representative of the company treat you 
rudely? 

Taking the time to consider whether you have a valid and timely com-
plaint will save you time and effort. But, be sure to check to see if there 
is a deadline for making your complaint.

The first step should be to take your complaint directly to the busi-
ness before you take other action. Often, the problem can be resolved 
quickly by doing so, so don’t forget to ask to “escalate” your call if the 
customer service representative is not helpful. Ask politely if you could 
be transferred to someone with the authority to help resolve your com-
plaint. If it is a small company, ask to speak with the owner.

Obviously, you can’t solve a complaint about fraud or a scam by con-
tacting the party that ripped you off—the scam artist is probably long 
gone and it isn’t advisable to contact fraudsters anyway. However, you 
should let the appropriate authorities know when you have been a 
victim of fraud. There is a chance that they could recover your money, 
and at the very least you will help prevent other consumers from falling 
victim to the same scam.

The f i rst  step should be to  take 
your  complaint  d i rec t ly  to  the 

business  before  you take other 
ac t ion.

NOTIFY
the 

business
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Complaints  over view
Here are some of the concepts for complaining that are explained in this guide:

n  Know your rights.

n  Complain in a timely fashion.

n  Prepare a folder or file to keep documents and notes about your 
complaint.

n  Write out three or four sentences that describe your complaint 
clearly and concisely.

n  Be clear about what you want.

n  Be persistent.

n  Be patient and don’t lose your cool.

n  Seek assistance from a third party.

n  Consider going to court.

B efore complaining
Review what happened and think about your options and rights. Consider the 
facts of the case, and what you want to happen. Write down:

n  a brief description of your complaint;

n  what your rights are;

n  why you feel the business should do something for you; and

n  what you want the business to do to resolve the problem.

If you are not sure what your rights are or how to proceed, do an Internet search 
to learn more, or contact a consumer group and discuss the situation. Talking 
with a qualified organization may help you decide how to handle the problem, 
and many agencies have publications that explain consumer rights and how to 
resolve complaints. 

You can consult the The Consumer Action Handbook, a free guide that lists many 
agencies at www.usa.gov/topics/consumer.shtml. Order a printed copy at www.
usa.gov/consumer-action-handbook/order-form.shtml or read and download a 
PDF copy at www.usa.gov/topics/consumer/consumer-action-handbook.pdf.

I f  you are  not  sure  what 
your  r ights  are,  or  how to 

proceed,  do an I nternet 
search to  learn more,  or 

contac t  a  consumer group 
and discuss  the s i tuat ion. 

KNOW
your

rights!
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Review all printed information you have about the case, such as:

n  Any ad that you responded to, or any brochure, warranty, 
guarantee or other document that describes the product or 
service and how it should work

n  All letters between you and the business

n  Any other papers you received from the company, including 
agreements, instructions, receipts and billing statements

If you signed a contract, read it carefully and ask the company for explanations of 
anything you don’t understand. The contract or warranty may limit your options 
or provide you with certain rights. Make sure you have done everything that you 
were supposed to do to live up to your part of the agreement.

Decide what you want from the company, such as repair or replacement of the 
item, a refund, an exchange, a credit, a correction of the company’s records or the 
payment of damages. Consider whether a compromise would be acceptable. It 
may be easier to resolve the complaint if you agree to a settlement that falls short 
of a full refund.

Complain as  soon as  possible
The sooner you complain, the better your chances are for a satisfactory settle-
ment. In some cases, especially billing disputes, the company may not be legally 
liable if you fail to complain within a reasonable time after you first discover the 
problem or receive the bill. That is why it is important to read all bills and state-
ments as soon as you get them.

Some store refund policies allow you to return items if you do so within a few 
days. If you wait too long to return the item you will lose the right to get your 
money back. In addition, it can be difficult to defend yourself if you wait a long 
time to complain. If you buy a television and don’t return it for three months, you 
may have a hard time convincing the store that it didn’t work when you first tried 
to use it.

The sooner  you complain , 
the better  your  chances 

for  a  sat is fac tor y 
sett lement.

MAKE
a timely

complaint
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How to complain
The first step in complaining is to clearly present your problem. Failure to com-
municate effectively often makes it difficult to resolve complaints. Have all rele-
vant information at hand when you contact the company, including: a description 
of the item; your account number or other facts to help the company identify the 
transaction; your receipt, billing statement or cancelled check; and a clear and 
brief explanation of what is wrong and what you want the company to do.

Do not get emotional: Speak calmly and politely. Think about how the person you 
are speaking to will react. If you raise your voice, that person will probably get 
angry and yell back or simply hang up. Handling complaints can be a tough job. 
If you make the complaint handler’s job harder by getting angry, that person is 
likely to respond negatively to you.

Make notes about all conversations you have about the complaint, including the 
time and date of your calls, the names of everyone at the company you spoke to 
and what they said.

You can complain by phone, in person, or in writing by email or mail.

Phone or email first to tell the company about the problem and to try to resolve 
it. You should be able to learn pretty quickly whether the problem will be re-
solved.

Go to the company to return the purchase, or if there is a need to meet with 
someone to examine the item, receipts or statements. Complaining in person 
helps to force the issue, but is not always necessary. Ask a friend to go with you if 
you are concerned about being harassed or want a witness.

Sometimes problems can be resolved with one call, email or visit. You may learn 
that you are not using the item properly, or that the company is willing to give 
you a refund without an argument.

But when you realize that your attempts to contact the company are being ig-
nored or the company refuses to help you, start putting your communications in 
writing. Sometimes businesses ignore complaints until they see them in writing. 
Even if you email, it is a good idea to print a copy and send a hard copy through 
the mail. Always send your hard-copy complaint letters certified mail or “return 
receipt requested.” This way you will have a record that the company received 
your communication.

I f  you make the complaint 
handler ’s  job harder 

by gett ing angr y,  that 
person is  l ike ly  to  respond 

negat ively  to  you.

SPEAK
calmly and

politely
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You may need cer ta in 
documents,  or  evidence,  in 

order  to  win your  case or 
prove you paid for  the i tem.

Complaint emails and letters are important because they:

n  create a written record of your complaint with the company;

n  preserve your rights under law;

n  help the business understand your side of the story;

n  involve government agencies that you send copies to and alert 
them to the firm’s practices;

n  lay the groundwork for a future legal case or defense; and

n  let the company know you are serious about the matter.

Complaint emails or letters should not be long—a long letter can be a draw-
back as representatives may not have the time to read every word and may even 
choose to ignore your letter as a “rant.” 

Spend some time trying to explain your problem in 250 words or fewer. Include 
your name, address and phone number, and account or invoice number, if any. 
(However, if you are going to CC others on your letter, redact (cross out) account 
numbers on the copies.) 

If appropriate, include a copy of your cancelled check, receipt or other docu-
ments. Keep a copy of all communications you send and receive. If the first 
contact does not bring a response, send another. Simply send the same email 
or letter, with a new sentence stating, “This is my second attempt to contact you 
about this matter.”

Remember: Always send your complaint letters certified mail or “return receipt 
requested.” A mail receipt will provide proof that delivery was made. Make sure 
you do not delete emails you send, but save or copy them for future reference.

Keep records
You may need certain documents, or evidence, in order to win your case or prove 
you paid for the item. These can include your receipt, credit card statements, 
screenshots of the company’s website, repair orders and/or the warranty. 

Keep receipts and proof of purchase until you are sure you won’t need them: 
Companies may demand proof of purchase before settling a complaint or fixing 
an item under warranty. Note that you don’t need to mail in a product warranty 
card in order to claim your rights on a product that is still under warranty—a re-
ceipt and the barcode (Universal Product Code, or UPC) from product packaging 

KEEP
good 

records
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is enough. If your purchase was made online, you might be able to print another 
receipt from the company’s website.

If you don’t have a copy of your credit card statement or cancelled check, you 
may be able to print one out from your bank’s website or request a copy from 
your bank. (Banks may charge a fee for copies of older records.)

Never send originals of receipts or checks to the company or any complaint-
handling agency—always send copies. Copies of your emails or letters can also 
be very helpful. If the firm claims it never heard from you, copies of letters (with 
return receipts or proof of delivery) or emails with a date header can help you 
resolve the problem.

Contac t  someone higher  up
If your first attempt at complaining fails, contact someone higher up in the 
company. If the salesperson can’t help you, ask to speak to a supervisor or store 
manager, and then the owner or the company’s headquarters. Larger companies 
often have customer relations or consumer complaint departments that you can 
contact for assistance. If all else fails, ask to be connected to “customer retention,” 
a department responsible for keeping customers.

Don’t hesitate to send complaint letters to the owner, president, chief executive 
officer (CEO) or general counsel of the company at its executive offices. These 
officials should send your letter to the appropriate person, and may take steps 
to resolve the dispute promptly. Higher-level officials are sensitive to the firm’s 
image, and often are more willing and able to find a solution to complaints. Top 
executives do not like hearing from consumers, and top-level staff people often 
intervene to solve problems quickly, before they reach the big boss.

To get the name and address of the president or executive offices, put “CEO” and 
the name of the company in a search engine. Or call any office of the company 
and ask for that information.

All companies, foreign and domestic, are required to file registration statements, 
periodic reports, and other forms with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(SEC) electronically through EDGAR (www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml). You can access 
this information for free. The reports are a good resource for finding the address 
and phone number of a company’s headquarters or general counsel. Other 
sources of this information are Hoovers (www.hoovers.com), Google Finance 
(www.google.com/finance) and Yahoo Finance (finance.yahoo.com).

Don’t  hes i tate  to  send complaint 
letters  to  the owner,  pres ident , 
chief  execut ive  of f icer  (CEO)  or 

general  counsel  of  the company 
at  i ts  execut ive  of f ices. 

TAKE
it to 

the top
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Businesses  that  ignore 
most  complaining 

consumers  of ten sett le 
a l l  cases  that  are  sent  to 

government  agencies.

Another source of information about company executives is the website Jigsaw 
(www.jigsaw.com), a business directory where you can find contact and company 
information for private as well as public companies. The site offers a free search 
for those who register. For each contact that you supply on Jigsaw, you get to ac-
cess another one free.

Call the executive’s office by dialing the general number for the company and 
asking for the executive by name. In most cases you will get through to someone 
who will take your complaint seriously. If you cannot get through during business 
hours, try calling the number after business hours to see if it has a directory of 
employees you can search by name. Leave a short but informative message about 
your problem and ask for a return call.

Sometimes you encounter a company that makes complaining very difficult. It 
may say, “the person you need to speak to is not in the office today, call back next 
week,” or “leave your number and we will get back to you.” This may be a sign that 
the company is stalling you. If you are not being treated seriously, it might be 
time to take your problem to a person higher up in the company, complain to a 
government agency or consider legal action.

Contac t  government agencies
Government agencies will not always intervene to settle your case, but some will 
contact the company to open up communication. For example, if you complain 
to the state public utilities commission about a telephone company, it might ask 
that company for an explanation of its position. A government financial services 
regulator might contact your bank to ask for its side of the story. State attorneys 
general (AGs) and municipal district attorneys (DAs) handle many cases that do 
not fall under the jurisdiction of any other government agency. Some district at-
torneys have units that offer consumer complaint mediation.

No agency can force a business to settle an individual’s complaint, but the gov-
ernment’s interest in the case may convince the company to resolve the dispute. 
Businesses that ignore most complaining consumers often settle cases that are 
sent to government agencies (or consumer groups, business associations or ac-
tion lines).

Government agencies can be excellent sources of information about consumer 
rights and the laws and regulations that companies must follow. If you are not 
sure whether a company has broken the law, call the appropriate government 
agency and ask for information about your rights.

GET
the gov’t
involved
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Many businesses are directly regulated by government agencies, such as a 
department of insurance or department of banking. These agencies receive 
complaints about the companies they regulate and investigate allegations that 
those businesses have violated the law. The agencies depend upon consumers to 
alert them to companies that are engaged in illegal practices. Even if the agency 
doesn’t help you resolve your complaint, it might be able to use your case to stop 
an unfair business practice.

If your complaint involves an out-of-state company, you may still be able to 
obtain assistance from government agencies in your state. You can also contact a 
federal government agency to complain about out-of-state firms.

Government agencies usually prefer that you complain by email, phone or mail—
not in person. Most are not prepared to help people who walk into their offices 
without appointments. Some have special complaint forms for consumers to use. 
To make sure you are complaining to the appropriate agency, visit its website 
or call before submitting a complaint, or ask a consumer group which agency to 
contact.

When you call or submit a complaint to a government agency, indicate what you 
are looking for. For example, ask it to “Please investigate my complaint,” or “Advise 
me if there is a law that covers my complaint.”

To find the appropriate agencies, consult The Consumer Action Handbook, a free 
guide that lists many agencies at www.usa.gov/topics/consumer.shtml. Order a 
printed copy of the guide at www.usa.gov/consumer-action-handbook/order-
form.shtml or read and download a PDF copy at www.usa.gov/topics/consumer/
consumer-action-handbook.pdf.

If you don’t find the information you are looking for, look for the names, phone 
numbers and addresses of government agencies in your phone book. A special 
government section in most phone directories lists local, state and federal agen-
cies.

Complaining through an organizat ion
When you have done all you can on your own, consider whether an organization 
can assist you. In many areas, chapters of the Better Business Bureau (BBB) assist 
consumers with certain complaints. You can file a complaint with the BBB online 
(www.bbbonline.org).

Repor t ing your  case may 
help stop an unfai r  business 

prac t ice  and prevent  harm to 
other  consumers.

BLOW
the

whistle
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Few consumer groups handle individual complaints, but action lines in many 
states help consumers to resolve problems. The entrance of a third party into a 
dispute may send a signal to the business that:

n  you are determined to see the case through, and won’t give up;

n  depending on the organization, there could be bad publicity and 
lost business; and

n  you may be represented by people with sufficient expertise, 
sophistication and resources to cause problems for the 
business.

Action lines are volunteer programs, usually run through newspapers and radio 
or television stations. (Callers to action lines are not placed on the air.) They give 
assistance to people who are having difficulty resolving complaints. They can 
contact a business on your behalf and try to work out a solution. You may know 
of a local station that features consumer complaints. To learn if there is a Call 
For Action-affiliated action line that serves your area, visit Call For Action (www.
callforaction.org).

Consider  your  alternatives
If you feel you have run out of options, consider taking these steps:

Seek advice. There are many sources of information and advice. Many consumer 
groups and action lines offer free consultation about consumer problems. Some 
government agencies provide advice and information concerning complaints 
against the companies that they regulate. There are many publications that pro-
vide helpful suggestions about resolving consumer problems.

Sue in small claims court. Small claims court is an appropriate place to settle 
many consumer cases.

Contact a lawyer. Usually, the money involved in consumer cases is not enough 
to involve a lawyer, and legal actions can take years to complete. But a lawyer can 
advise you about your legal rights and options.

Conduct a consumer picket. You can hand out information about your case to 
the public while you stand in front of the company’s store or offices, as long as 
you do not block traffic, break any laws or say anything in your handouts that you 
cannot prove.

Ac t ion l ines  are  volunteer 
programs,  usual ly  run 

through newspapers  and 
radio or  te levis ion stat ions.

CALL 
an 

Action Line
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Use social pressure. The opportunity to shame a business publicly has grown 
in the age of the Internet. It’s possible to post your story online in reviews, blogs, 
comments and social media such as Facebook and Twitter. Many complaint 
websites allow you to post public complaints or to write a review of the busi-
ness (to find them, do an Internet search). As with a consumer picket, never post 
anything you cannot prove or defend in court, as you could face legal action from 
the business if you go too far or make false claims. However, this avenue can be 
effective, as a large number of companies monitor social media in order to solve 
complaints before they create bad publicity or damage their brands.

Create a website or a social media page. Disgruntled consumers have got-
ten very creative and set up “corporate hate websites” targeting companies for 
bad practices. It is important to remember that the company may try to take 
legal action against you, and even though you are probably within your rights of 
freedom of speech, defending yourself could be costly. (To protect yourself from 
any lawsuit, make sure you have adequate liability insurance on your rental or 
homeowners insurance policy.) Most of these “hate sites” accept posts from other 
disgruntled consumers.

Stopping payment
You can stop payment on a check or an electronic payment from your bank ac-
count. This is a traditional consumer remedy, but it doesn’t work in every case and 
it may not end the dispute.

Stopping payment on a check means that you tell your bank not to pay a check 
that you wrote, but there is no guarantee that your bank can stop a payment. 
Most banks charge fees of $30 or more to stop a payment. Stop payment orders 
generally expire after six months. When you stop payment, the company you 
gave the check to will be unable to get any money for it—unless it cashed the 
check before you stopped payment. Businesses often cash checks immediately to 
prevent customers from stopping payment.

To stop an electronic payment from your bank account, you will need to notify 
your bank at least three business days before the transaction is scheduled to be 
made. (Again, a stop payment fee is likely to apply.) This notice may be made oral-
ly or in writing. However, if the notice is made orally, the bank may require you to 
follow up with written notice within 14 days. If you don’t provide written verifica-
tion of the oral notice when required, the oral stop payment order may expire. 

If you gave a merchant pre-authorization to take money from your bank account, 

The oppor tunit y  to  shame a 
business  publ ic ly  has  grown 

in  the age of  the I nternet .

APPLY some

social
pressure
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you need to revoke the authorization with the merchant. Pre-authorized with-
drawal agreements are between consumers and vendors—the bank can’t cancel 
them until you notify the vendor/merchant. Write directly to the vendor/merchant 
to request that no further money is taken from your account. It can be difficult to 
stop payment on a recurring debit if the company won’t cooperate. You should 
provide the bank with a copy of the letter and inform the bank that you no longer 
authorize these charges and you have notified the merchant/vendor. Keep a copy 
of the letter for your records.

Once you stop payment you should immediately tell the company (or person) 
what you have done and why. You can do this by phone, but you should also 
write a letter to create a written record of your position. (If you fail to explain the 
situation, the company might assume that you are trying to take the item without 
paying for it.) When you stop payment for a purchase, you should return the item 
to the company.

Credit  card r ights
Contact your credit card company. If you paid by credit card, the bank that 
issued the card may be able to help you resolve the problem. Make sure the bank 
receives your notice of billing error within 60 days of the monthly statement 
containing the unauthorized charges. You may be required to submit your dispute 
in writing. 

Your card issuer will investigate the case and may decide in your favor if it be-
lieves you have a legitimate complaint. While it is investigating you do not have to 
pay the disputed amount on your credit card statement, but the bank can charge 
you interest on the amount you don’t pay if it rules against you. (Make sure you 
pay the undisputed portion of the bill.) If the bank rules in your favor it will give 
you a credit for the disputed amount. If it rules against you, you can still seek a 
refund in court or through other actions, such as by complaining to government 
agencies.

The process for stopping pre-authorized, recurring credit card payments to a mer-
chant is a little different than a credit card dispute. First, write to the merchant, 
directing it to stop the charges. Second, notify your bank about any charges that 
you feel were in error. You may be required to submit your dispute in writing or to 
explain it in a form the card issuer will provide.

 I f  you paid by credit  card, 
the bank that  i ssued the 
card may be able  to  help 
you resolve the problem.

CALL
your credit

card issuer
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Writ ing your  complaint
See the sample letter and sample email on page 17. Cut and paste or download 
these as plain text files from www.consumer-action.org/index.php/alerts/
articles/sample_complaint_letter_and_email and insert your own information.

n  In your letter or email, include your name, address and phone 
number. 

n  Note what you are complaining about, when and where the 
purchase or agreement took place, and any other pertinent 
information, such as the item’s make, model or serial 
number, or your account number.

n  Briefly and clearly describe the problem, ideally in 250 words or 
fewer, and what you want done to resolve it.

n  Give a specific period of time in which a response must be 
received (such as 10-14 days), and indicate that you will 
seek legal advice or take other steps if the matter is not 
resolved. You need not tell the party exactly what you will 
do.

n  Write “CC” at the end of the letter if you are sending copies 
to anyone, such as a local consumer group or district 
attorney’s office. For emails, use the CC field to copy 
government agencies, organizations or the media. 
(Remember to remove account numbers or Social Security 
numbers from your CC copies before you send them.)

n  Indicate if you are attaching copies of supporting documents. 
(Never send originals.) 

n  Keep a copy of all communications and supporting documents.

Consult ing a  law yer
Sometimes your only alternatives may be to hire a lawyer or drop the matter. If 
you believe your best option is to sue, but the amount is more than the small 
claims court limit or the case cannot be pursued in small claims court, you may 
have to hire a lawyer.

However, most consumer cases do not involve enough money to make it worth-

Give a  speci f ic  per iod of 
t ime in  which you expec t 
to  receive a  response and 
indicate  that  you wi l l  take 

fur ther  ac t ion af ter  that  t ime.

BRIEFLY

state your

problem
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while to hire a lawyer. You may not be able to locate one who is willing to help 
you or who is familiar with the legal issues involved. It could be many years before 
a court decides your case. 

If you want to speak to an attorney but don’t know how to find one, contact a law-
yer referral service. (See Resources on page 16, or call your county’s bar associa-
tion.) If you can’t afford an attorney, ask if your county has a legal aid agency or 
bar association that can help low-income consumers obtain legal advice.

In many consumer complaints, the amounts involved are much too small to make 
it worthwhile to consult a lawyer, but contacting a lawyer can be of value in some 
instances:

n  If you are being sued, you definitely need legal advice. Your 
failure to appear in court or obtain legal advice could be 
costly. Even if you know that you will lose the case, the 
advice of an attorney may help you to reduce the amount 
you will have to pay.

n  You may benefit from having a legal expert read or review 
a document. If you are about to buy a house or sign a 
contract, a lawyer can make sure the agreement doesn’t 
have clauses that could cost you money.

n  It can be helpful just to discuss a matter with a lawyer. If 
consumer agencies tell you that your only option is to sue, a 
lawyer can tell you the costs involved and what to expect.

n  In some cases, a letter from a lawyer can resolve the problem. 

For example, if you have just signed a car contract after being subjected to high-
pressure sales tactics, a letter from a lawyer questioning such practices might 
convince the dealership to cancel the agreement.

Small  c la ims cour t
Small claims court is for the resolution of minor disputes. The rules and require-
ments for such courts differ widely from state to state, so the first step is to learn 
the rules for filing a case in your state. 

Nolo, a legal self-help publisher, offers an online list of small claims limits in every 
state: www.nolo.com/legal-encyclopedia/small-claims-suits-how-much-30031.
html.

I n  some cases,  a  letter 
f rom a  law yer  can resolve 

the problem.

CONSIDER

consulting

a lawyer
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Search online or look in your phone book for the telephone number for your local 
small claims court. Generally, you must file your suit in the city or county in which 
the the business you have the dispute with has an office or in which the transac-
tion took place. There is usually a fee for filing a case.

Here is some general advice about suing in small claims court:

n  Before you file, learn about the limitations and requirements of 
small claims court. This includes the maximum amount that 
you can sue for and restrictions against filing certain types 
of cases. Nolo offers a free online list of state Statutes of 
Limitations: www.nolo.com/legal-encyclopedia/statute-of-
limitations-state-laws-chart-29941.html.

n  Ask the clerk of the small claims court for advice about how to 
file your case. If you do not file correctly, the case might be 
thrown out.

n  Give the company a chance to resolve the problem. Before you 
sue, notify it of your intention to sue by sending a letter.

n  Tell the firm why you feel it owes you money, and the specific 
dollar amount you want from it.

n  Find out the company’s legal name, and use that when suing it.

n  Formally notify the company of your suit. Ask the small claims 
court clerk how to do this.

n  Prepare your case. Gather your evidence and consider whether 
there are witnesses who can testify on your behalf. Practice 
your presentation by explaining your case to friends. Ask 
if they can understand your position and think you are 
making a good case. Be clear and concise.

You can visit a small claims court before your court date. Watching other people 
appear before the judge could make you feel more comfortable about the pro-
cess.

Usually, the judge will first ask you to speak, followed by the defendant. Then the 
judge will ask questions and consider the evidence. Even if you win your case, 
there is no guarantee you will get your money. If the person refuses to pay, then 
you may have to take steps to force payment. Ask the court clerk how to do this.

Smal l  c la ims cour t  i s  for  the 
resolut ion of  minor  disputes. 

Before  you f i le ,  learn about  the 
l imitat ions  and requirements  of 

smal l  c la ims cour t .

CONSIDER
Small

Claims Court
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For more about small claims court, go online to read the questions-and-answers 
offered by Nolo at www.nolo.com/legal-encyclopedia/small-claims-court-
faq-29071.html, or obtain a copy of “Everybody’s Guide to Small Claims Court” 
by Ralph Warner, published by Nolo. Check your public library for a copy before 
purchasing the book.

Communit y  mediat ion ser vices
Many states offer community or court-based mediation designed to help disput-
ing parties arrive at their own compromise settlement with the help of a neutral 
third party. The National Association for Community Mediation offers a program 
locator (www.nafcm.org) to help you find community-based mediation programs 
near you.

 The Nat ional  Associat ion for 
Communit y  Mediat ion of fers 

an onl ine program locator.

MEDIATION

may be an

alternative
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Resources
Better Business Bureau (www.bbbonline.org): Complain about businesses.

Consumer Action (www.consumer-action.org/helpdesk): Call (415-777-9635) or 
send a webmail for advice and referrals. Access free, multilingual brochures.

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) (www.consumerfinance.gov): 
Submit complaints about credit cards and other financial services.

Consumer Product Safety Commission (CPSC) (www.saferproducts.gov): Submit 
and review consumer product safety complaints. 

Federal Communications Commission (FCC) (www.fcc.gov) (http://esupport.fcc.
gov/complaints.htm): Submit landline and wireless phone complaints as well as 
telemarketing, broadband (Internet) and TV broadcast issues.

Federal Trade Commission (www.ftc.gov): Submit complaints about unfair or 
deceptive business practices, fraud, scams, credit reports and collections abuse.

Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA)  
(www.finra.org/Investors/ProtectYourself/p118628): Submit complaints about an 
investment or financial advisor or brokerage under FINRA’s mediation program.

Help With My Bank (OCC) (www.helpwithmybank.gov): Submit complaints about 
national banks (with “national association” or “NA” in the name).

Legal Aid: Legal Services Corporation Directory (www.lsc.gov): Find legal assis-
tance for low-income individuals and families.

National Association of Attorneys Generals (AGs) (www.naag.org): Find your 
state AG’s office to make a complaint of fraud or unfair business practices.

National Association for Community Mediation (www.nafcm.org): Find a local 
mediation organization.

National Association of Consumer Advocates (www.naca.net): Search by loca-
tion and specialty to find a consumer attorney.

National Association of Insurance Commissioners (www.naic.org): Find your 
state insurance regulator to submit insurance-related complaints.

National Motor Vehicle Title Information System (NMVTIS) (www.nmvtis.gov): 
Access important vehicle history information.

Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) (www.sec.gov): Submit investment 
related complaints.

Consumer Action Handbook (www.usa.gov/topics/consumer.shtml): Get this free 
resource for helping you complain effectively.

Consumer Ac t ion’s  nat ional 
hot l ine is  an eas i ly  access ible 

information hub where you 
can get  referra ls  to  complaint-
handl ing agencies  and request 

educat ional  mater ia ls .

CALL our

hotline
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S ample complaint  email
From: My Name <myname@myemailprovider.net>
Subject: (short description of your complaint)
Date: Most email programs enter this field automatically
To: (enter the email address of the person you are contacting)
CC: (local consumer group) (appropriate government agencies)

Dear (title) ____:

I wish to complain about ____ (name of product or service, with serial 
number or account number) that I purchased on ____ (date and loca-
tion of transaction).

I am complaining because ____ (the reason you are dissatisfied).  To 
resolve this problem I would like you to ____ (what you want the busi-
ness to do).

When I first learned of this problem, I contacted ____ (name of the 
person, date of the call) at your company, and was told that nothing 
could be done about my problem.  I believe that this response is unfair 
because ____ (the reason you feel the company has an obligation to 
you).  I would like a written statement explaining your company’s posi-
tion and what you will do about my complaint.

I look forward to hearing from you as soon as possible to resolve this 
problem.  If I do not hear from you within ____ days I will file com-
plaints with the appropriate consumer agencies and consider my legal 
alternatives.

I am attaching copies of my receipt or __________ (other proof of 
payment or documentation of complaint).  

You may reply to me at this email or call me at (phone number).

Sincerely,

(your full name)

S ample complaint  letter
Your name
Address
Phone number

Company official
Company name
Company address

Date

Dear (title) ____:

I wish to complain about ____ (name of product or service, with serial 
number or account number) that I purchased on ____ (date and loca-
tion of transaction).

I am complaining because ____ (the reason you are dissatisfied).  To 
resolve this problem I would like you to ____ (what you want the busi-
ness to do).

When I first learned of this problem, I contacted ____ (name of the 
person, date of the call) at your company, and was told that nothing 
could be done about my problem.  I believe that this response is unfair 
because ____ (the reason you feel the company has an obligation to 
you).  I would like a written statement explaining your company’s posi-
tion and what you will do about my complaint.

I look forward to hearing from you as soon as possible to resolve this 
problem.  If I do not hear from you within ____ days I will file com-
plaints with the appropriate consumer agencies and consider my legal 
alternatives.  I am enclosing copies of my receipt or ____ (other proof of 
payment).  I may be contacted at the above address/phone number.

Sincerely,

(Sign and type your name)

CC: (local consumer group) (appropriate government agencies)
ATT: (attach and list documentation of your complaint, if any)

Note: You can download text files for the sample letter and email on 
our website at www.consumer-action.org/index.php/alerts/articles/
sample_complaint_letter_and_email.
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